United States Department of the Interior Heritage Conservation and Recreation Service

National Register of Historic Places Inventory—Nomination Form



See instructions in *How to Complete National Register Forms*Type all entries—complete applicable sections

| 1. Nam | <u>e</u> | | | | | | | | |
|--|---|---------|--------------|----------------------------|---------------------------------------|--|----------|--|----------------|
| historic | Swinney, Th | omas W | . House | 1 | | | | | |
| and/or common | The Swinney | / Homes | tead | | | | | | |
| 2. Loca | tion | | | | | | | | |
| street & number | 1424 Wes | t Jeff | erson S | itreet | | | not | for publi | cation |
| city, town | Fort Way | /ne | | vicinity of | congress | sional district | 4th | | |
| state | Indiana | code | 018 | county | Allen | | | code | 003 |
| 3. Class | sificatio | n | | | | | | | |
| Category district _X_ building(s) structure site object | Ownership X public private both Public Acquisit in process being consid | | Access X yes | occupied rk in progress | co ed en go inc | nt Use riculture mmercial ucational tertainment vernment lustrial litary | | . museum . park . private ro . religious . scientifio . transport . other: | esidence |
| 4. Own | er of Pro | per | ty | | | | | | |
| name Ci | ity of Fort Wa | ayne | | | | | _ | | |
| street & number | City-County | Buildi | ng, 1 M | Main Street | | | | | |
| city, town | Fort Wayne | | | vicinity of | | state | India | ina | |
| 5. Loca | tion of L | .ega | l De | scripti | on | | | | |
| courthouse, regist | try of deeds, etc. | Allen | County | / Court Hous | se | | _ | | |
| street & number | | Main | Street | at Calhoun | Street | | | | |
| city, town | | Fort | Wayne | | | state | India | ana | |
| 6. Repr | esentati | ion i | n Ex | isting | Surve | ys | | | |
| title Histor | ric American I | Buildin | gs Surv | /eyhas this pro | perty been | determined e | legible? | ve: | s <u>X</u> no |
| | ary 13, 1934 | | <u> </u> | <u> </u> | | eral sta | | | |
| | | ibrarv | of Con | aress | | | | - 300, | |
| depository for sur | shington | | J. 0011 | | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | | | | |
| city, town Wd | | | | | | state | Distr | ict of | <u>Columbi</u> |

| Condition x good fair | deteriorated ruins unexposed | Check one unalteredX altered | Check one X original site moved date | |
|------------------------|------------------------------------|------------------------------|--------------------------------------|--|

Describe the present and original (if known) physical appearance

Description

The Swinney House is a visually prominent location, on a knoll at the foot of Jefferson Street just before the street turns to the south. Originally a one and one half story structure, the house was later changed by the addition of the Victorian detailing then in vogue. In 1885, a new wing was added to the south side, with a two story square bay tucked into the corner between the addition and the main house.

As it stands today, the house is a two and one-half story painted brick structure with a limestone foundation and lintels. The house has five bays across the main, or east, facade, with the entrance in the center bay. The Eastlake porch has a flat roof, with a gable over the entrance. It is supported by four bracketed posts across the front, with two engaged posts against the house. A spindled balustrade surrounds the deck.

The double doors of the main entrance have a single light each, and there is a glass transom. Additional entrances are located in an enclosed porch on the west side of the wing, and in the two-story square bay on the east side of the wing. The latter has a hood on brackets.

All windows are one-over-one, doublehung sash. First-story lintels are plain and flat, whereas second-story lintels are segmentally arched, with incised scrollwork. Above the second story windows, a slightly projecting soldier course of brick forms a decorative band. Directly above this, under the eaves and in the gable ends, is vertical wood siding, the ends of the boards cut to form a zig-zag pattern. The eaves are supported by paired Eastlake-style brackets.

The roof is basically gabled, except that it is hipped on the added wing. There are two gabled dormers with three windows each, one on the center front and one on the center rear.

Inside the house, the basement contains the original cooking fireplace, the root cellar, and remnants of the wine cellar and the slate floor. On the main level, the poplar floor and the walnut and poplar woodwork are still in place, although a wall has been removed from between the dining room and parlor. The woodwork on the first floor is plain, but door frames on the second floor are fluted and scrolled.

The stairways that are in the building are not original. The main stairway, from the first to the second floor, is of walnut, and was constructed during the 1885 remodeling. A second stairway from the second floor to the attic came from another house, and was installed when this house was taken over by the Historical Society.

There are nine fireplaces in the house, all original, but none are presently operable. The two in the dining room and parlor have plain, wide boards and panels, with slightly protruding mantels. The fireplaces in the library and sitting room are of oak and marble, very ornate, late Victorian. The fireplace in the parlor of the south wing is of black cast iron. The two Victorian fireplaces upstairs are simpler, of walnut and marble.

Hardware in the house is original, including three gas light fixtures. Some of the original inside shutters are in use.

8. Significance

| Period prehistoric 1400–1499 1500–1599 1600–1699 1700–1799 X | Areas of Significance—C archeology-prehistoric agriculture X architecture art commerce communications | heck and justify below community planning conservation economics education engineering exploration/settlement industry invention | music philosophy politics/government | religion science sculpture social/ humanitarian theater transportation X other (specify) |
|--|---|--|--------------------------------------|--|
| Specific dates | Built 1844-45 Remodeled 1885. | Builder/Architect | | ini i uncin opy |

Statement of Significance (in one paragraph)

The Swinney House is architecturally significant because it is one of the oldest homes remaining in the Fort Wayne area. Built in 1844-1845, the house was later modified by the addition of one wing, another floor, a front porch, and trim, giving it a stylish Victorian appearance. Historically, it is important because its builder and long-time owner, Thomas W. Swinney, was a prominent Fort Wayne businessman who, beginning from humble origins, rose to become one of the city's most important business leaders, and who gave the land for Swinney Park to the city.

Thomas W. Swinney was a pioneer settler of early Allen County. Born in Piketown, Ohio, in 1803, he emigrated to Indiana sometime between 1818 and 1822. In 1823, he settled in Fort Wayne and one year later married Lucy Taber, daughter of a federal official with extensive landholdings acquired before the local land office had opened. During the ensuing years, Swinney was highly successful in farming, livestock breeding, construction, and land speculation. He erected Swinney Block on East Main Street, opposite the courthouse, one of the earliest three-story buildings in the city. In 1830, Indiana Governor Ray appointed him to the staff of the state militia. A social and political reward as much as military position, the much-coveted appointment conferred the title "Colonel" on the young man. He also served as treasurer of Allen County in 1834 and 1837.

Swinney's residences changed with his fortunes. About 1826, he built a log house outside the old fort, about seventy-five feet from the river. His family, including five daughters, lived in the cabin until 1845. Evidence suggests that the Swinney's entertained often while living in their original home. Of the recorded events held on the estate, perhaps the most notable was the gathering that celebrated the opening of the Wabash and Erie Canal on July 4, 1843. It was the coming of the canal that established Fort Wayne as a major trade center and provided easier access for settlers traveling west.

In about 1844-1845, Swinney had the original portion of the present house constructed on his property. This consisted of a one and one-half story building built of native limestone and brick. In 1885, the structure was enlarged and other changes made by Swinney's daughters. The roof was raised to create a two and one-half story structure; a new east wing, front porch, and wood detailing gave the house a Victorian appearance. A beautiful walnut staircase of the period replace the original stairs.

In the 1860's, the major portion of Swinney's land was leased to the Agricultural society for a fairground. The leasehold on the fairgrounds was vacated in 1889, and arrangements were immediately made by the newly created Park Board to renew it upon the same terms, and proceed to the development of the tract as a park in accordance with the will of Thomas Swinney. Swinney provided in his will that when his direct line of issue should be extinct, the entire tract should pass to the city of Fort Wayne, for use as a playground of the people. It was the first gift of land for public park purposes that was ever made in Fort Wayne.

Swinney died in January, 1895. Possession of the house and park passed to Fort Wayne in 1922, when his last daughter died. Until recently the Allen County-Fort Wayne Historical Society used the building as a museum. It is now used by the Old Fort Settlers for their education program in folk crafts.

| Taylor; S.R. Hist.Soc., De | & Potterf,Rex | M. The Swinney | / Homestead. Bul | letin of t | he Allen County-Fort Wa |
|---------------------------------------|---|---|--|-------------------------------------|--|
| Reihel, Dani | iel Changing Fa | ces of the Swir | nney Homestead. | Bulletin o | f the Allen County-Fort |
| Wayne Histor | ical Society , | February 1964. | *SEE CONTINUAT | | |
| 10. Ge | ographic | al Data | 51 578 158 1 | AGE NUI | VERIFIED |
| Acreage of nomi | inated property Le | ss than on e acr | e | TW MUI | VERIFIED |
| Quadrangle nan | ne <u>Fort Wayne</u> | <u>Wes</u> t, Indiana | • | Quadra | ngle scale <u>1:24000</u> |
| UMT References | ; | | | | |
| A 1 6 6 5 Zone Easti | 14 7 19 10 4 15 ing North | 4 ₁₈ 3 _{12 15} | B Zone E | asting | Northing |
| لـا لــا، | با لبيا | | □L⊥ | | |
| E | با لنبا | | F L | | |
| G | بالنشاب | | H | | |
| Verbal bounda | ry description an | d justification | | , • | App. 1 State and 1 |
| | | allel to and two | | | nmost northernmost, an wall. |
| List all states | and counties for | properties overlap | ping state or cour | ity boundario | es |
| state | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | code | county | | code |
| state | | code | county | | code |
| name/titie | Raon Meitz, Bo | etty McDermott, | Lois Snouffer, | Helen Rob | inson |
| organization | Old Fort Sett | lers Society, I | nc. date | | |
| street & number | 3333 River For | rest Drive | telep | hone 219 | /483-4176 |
| city or town | Fort Wayne | | state | Indiana | 46805 |
| 12. Sta | te Histo | ric Prese | rvation O | fficer (| Certification |
| The evaluated si | gnificance of this pr | operty within the sta | | | |
| <u> </u> | | state^ | _ locai | | |
| As the designate 665), I hereby no | ed State Historic Pre minate this property | servation Officer for for inclusion in the | the National Historic National Register and | Preservation : d certify that it | Act of 1966 (Public Law 89– has been evaluated |
| according to the | criteria and proced | ures set forth by the | Heritage Conservatio | n and Recreat | tion Service. |
| State Historic Pro | eservation Officer s | ignature J on | ern R | dero | m. |
| itle State Hi | storic Preserv | ation Officer | | date | March 5, 1981 |
| For HCRS use | only | | | | The Control of the Co |
| Aclor | inity that this prope | rty is included in the | National Register Entered in the National Regi | stez date | 4/27/81 |
| Keeper of the N | Vational Register | | | | |
| | Mar de Carlos | | | | |
| Attest | | | | date | |

United States Department of the Interior Heritage Conservation and Recreation Service

National Register of Historic Places Inventory—Nomination Form

For HCRS use only received date entered

Continuation sheet

ttem number 9

Page 1

Ernest, Gary G. <u>Graceful Plutocracy</u>, <u>The Swinney Family in Fort Wayne</u>. Special Publication, Allen County-Fort Wayne Historical Society, 1977.

1981

FER 13.1721

WITT ! OF 10 SHITTS

APR PR 27 <u>88</u>